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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group and of the Bank for the financial year ended 31 December

2016.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Bank are banking and related financial services that also
include Islamic Banking businass. Tha principal activifies of the subsidiary companies
are set out in MNote 10 to the financial statements. There have been no significant
changes in these activities during the financial year.

Results
Group
and Bank
EM'000
Profit before tax 186,272
Tax expense _ (48,233)
Profit for the year attributable to owner of the Bank 147,039
Dividends

Since the end of the previous financial year, the amounts of dividends paid by the
Company were as follows:-

= |n respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 as reporied in the
Director's Report of that year, a final ordinary dividend of 57.6 sen per ordinary
share totalling RM100,000,000 declared on 30 June 2016 and paid on 29 July

2016,

The final dividend recommended by the Directors in respect of the financial year
ended 31 December 2016 is 84.7 sen per ordinary share totaling RM 147,039,000,

Reserves, provisions and allowances

There were no materal transfers to or from reserves, provisions and allowances
during the financial year under review other than those disclosed in the financial

statements.
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Directors of the Bank
Directors who served during the financial year untjl the date of this report are:

Tunku Date’ Mahmood Fawzy bin Tunku Muhiyiddin {appointed 28 April 2016)
Date’ Yusof Annuar bin Yaacob

Mr. Steven Choy Khai Choon

Madam Koid Swee Lian (appointed 7 December 2016)

Dato’ Ahmad Johari bin Abdul Razak (retired 24 August 2016)

Mr. Richard Joseph Austin {resigned 1 December 2016)

Mr. Ng Soon Lai @ Ng Siek Chuan (resigned 7 December 2018)

Tun Mohamed Dzaiddin bin Haji Abdullah {retired 31 December 2018)

Bad and doubtful debts and financing

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank were made out, the
Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that actions had been taken in relation
to the writing off of bad debis and financing and the making of allowance for impaired
debts and financing, and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts and financing
had been written off and adequate allowance had been made for impaired debts and

fimancirng.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which
would render the amount written off for bad detts and financing, or the amount of the
allowance for impaired dabts and financing, in the financial statements of the Group
and of the Bank inadequate to any substantial extent.

Current assets

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank were mada out, the
Directors look reasonable steps to ascerfain that any current assets, other than debts
and financing, which were unlikely to be realised in the crdinary course of business
at their values as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Bank, have

been written down to an amount which they might be expected io realise.

Al the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which
would render the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of

the Group and of the Bank misleading.

Valuation methods

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which
have arisen which render adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or
liahilities in the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank misleading or

inappropriate.
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Contingent and other liabilities

At the date of this report, there dees not exist:

(a) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Bank which has arisen since the
end of the financial year and which secures the liabilities of any other person, or

(b) any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Bank that has ansen
since the end of the financial year other than those incurred in the ordinary

course of business.

No contingent or other liability of the Group and of the Bank has become enforceable,
or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twalve months after the end of
the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect
the ability of the Group and of the Bank to meet their cbligations as and whan they

fall due.

Change of circumstances

Al the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumsiances, not
otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the
Bank, which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

Items of an unusual nature

The results of the operations of the Group and of the Bank for the financial year were
not, in the opinion of the Directors, substantially affected by any item, transaction or

event of a material and unusual nature,

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date
of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nalure likely to
affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Bank for the
current financial year in which this report is made.

Compliance with Bank Negara Malaysia's expectations on
financial reporting

In the preparation of the financial statements, the Directors have faken reasonable
steps to ensure that Bank Negara Malaysia's expeciations on financial reporting have
been complied with, including those sat out in the Guidelines on Financial Reporting
and the Guidelines on Classification and Impairment Provisions for Leans/Financing.
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Directors’ interests in shares

According to the Register of Directors’ Sharehcldings maintained by the Bank in
accordance with Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965, the Directors holding office
at year end who have beneficial interests in the shares of the Bank and its related
corporations are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares
Balance at Balance at
1.1.2016 Bought Sold 31.12.2016

Holding company
Deutsche Bank Aktiengeseallschalft
Dato’ Yusof Annuar bin Yaacob 10,481 3.977 (3,780) 10,678
Number of ordinary shares
Balance at Awarded/ Exercised/Balance at
1.1.2016 Granted Vested 31.12.2016
Helding company

Deutsche Bank Aktiengeasalischalt
- DB Restricted Equity Units Plan
Date’ Yusof Annuar bin Yaacob g 380 10,703 (3.977) 16,106

MNone of the other Directors held or dealt in the shares of the Bank or its related
corporations during the financial year.

Directors’ benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Bank has received nor
become entitled to receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate
amount of remuneration received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in Note
24 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Bank or a related
corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with
a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest,

MNeither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there
subsist any arrangements o which the Bank is a party whereby Directors might
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Bank
or any other body corporate other than the share and options compensation plans
operated by Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft as disclosed in Note 34.
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Issue of shares and debentures

There were no changes in the authorised, issued and paid-up capital of the Bank
during the financial year.

There were no debentures issued during the year.

Options granted over unissued shares

Mo options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Bank during
the year.

Indemnity and insurance costs

During the financial year, the total amount of insurance effected for the Directors of
the Bank is RM264 295,

Ultimate holding company

The Directors regard Deutsche Bank Akiiengesellschaft, a bank incorporated in
Germany, as the immediate and ultimate holding company of the Bank during the
financial year and until the date of this report.

Subsidiaries

The details of the Company's subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 10 te the financial
statements.
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Auditors

The auditors. Messrs KPMG PLT (converted from a conventional parinership, KPMG,
an 27 December 2018). have indicated their willingness o accept re-appointmeant.

The acditor's remuneration is disclosed in Mote 21 to the financial stalements.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the
Directors;

N
/)r - -’f-:—'_
R R
Tun‘hu to Hahmuud Fawzy bin Tunku Muhlylddm

Director

Diractor

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 7 5 MAY 7



Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad
{Company No. 312552-W)
{Incorporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Statement by Directors pursuant to
Section 251(2) of the Companies Act, 2016

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 15 o 84 are
drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in
Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Bank as of 31 Decembear 2016 and of their financial performance and cash

flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the

Directors:
= '““x
/"‘.-’.-'_,_,_'—-—
F’ - il
Tunku Datdﬁahmﬂnd Fawz].r bin Tunku Muhiwddm |
Director

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 7 5 pAy



Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad
(Company No. 312552-W)
{Incorporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Statutory declaration pursuant to
Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2016

I. Chan Tse Ning, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management
of Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely deciare that the
financial statements set out on pages 15 to 94 are, to the best of my knowledge and
belief, correct and | make this solemn declaralion conscientiously believing the

declaration to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1980,

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named Chan Tse Ning, NRIC

B00626-10-5492, at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on ... e g YR

Before me.




Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 312552-\W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Shariah Committee’s Report

In the name of Allah, the Beneficent. the Merciful

In compliance with the letter of appointment, we are required 1o submit the following
report:

We have reviewed the principles and the contracts refating to the transactions and
applications introduced by Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad's Islamic Banking
division during the year ended 31 December 2018. We have also conducted our
review to form an opinion as to whether Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad's Islamic
Banking division has complied with the Shariah principles and with the Shariah rulings
izsued by the Shanah Advisory Council of Bank Negara Malaysia, as well as Shariah
decisions made by us.

The management of Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad's Islamic Banking division is
respansible for ensuring that the financial institution conducts its business in
accordance with the Shariah principles. It is our responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based onour review of the operations of Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Barhad's
Islamic Banking division, and to report to you,

We have assessed the Shanah review work carried out by Shariah Compliance officer
and internal Shanah audit

We planned and performed our review so as to obtain all the information and
explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient
avidence to give reasonable assurance that the Bank has not violated the Shariah

principles.
In our opinion:
The contracts, transactions and dealings entered into by Deutsche Bank (Malaysia)

Berhad's Islamic Banking division during the year ended 31 December 2016 that we
have reviewed are in compliance with the Shariah principles.
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We, the members of the Shariah Commitiee of Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad's
Islamic Banking division, do hereby confirm that the operations of Deutsche Bank
(Malaysia} Berhad's Islamic Banking division for the year ended 31 December 2016

have been conducted in conformity with the Shariah principles.

Dr. Sheikh Hussain Hamed Sayed Hassan
{Chairman of Shariah Committee)

Encik Mohd Hilmi bin Ramli
{Member)
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KPMG PLT Teiaphone 460 (1) 7721 3358

(LLPOD008T1-LEA & AF OFER) Fax +60 (3} TTZ1 3390

Chargred Accountants Enfemal A KRG COET, Py
Lesal 10, KPMO Tivwar

8 Firs} Avenug, Bandar Uama

4 00 Petahrg Jayva

Sulangar Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Independent auditors’ report to the member of

Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 312552-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Barhad, which
comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2016 of the Group
and of the Bank, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
stalements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the
Bank for the year then ended, and notes 1o the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 15 to 94,

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and of the Bank as at 31 December 2016, and of its
financial performance and ils cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1865 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing In
Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibiliies under those
standards are further described in the Auditors” Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Stafemenis section of our auditor's report. We believe that the audit
avidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion,
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Bank in accordance with the By-Laws
fon Professional Ethics, Conduct and Praclice} of the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants ("By-Laws") and the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code™), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the

IESBA Code.

KFRaG FL T o bmededd fabe oy par=meh s febed srels Madrpssn v a
i & o T EPREG: aphaoey of orel pasded maeemesr e aTieded
wty PGS bnlirni boni! Cotpaisine THPWED Inkemaboneag i 4 Bass st
WPRE PLF LD A0 Wl L A mas ogbirmd o 37,12 208 @i b tha
a3 [TE . WL CpImearian e g coredional patimnbis, PG moa
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Directors of the Bank are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the Directors’ Report and Shariah Committee's Report, but
does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank and our
auditors' report thereon.

Cur opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank does not cover
the Direclors’ Report and Shariah Commillee's Report and we do not and will not
exprass any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with cur audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank,
our responsibility is to read the Directors’ Report and Shariah Commitiee’s Report
and, in doing s0, consider whether the Directors' Report and Shariah Committee's
Report are matenally inconsistent with the financial statements of the Group and of
the Bank or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstaled,

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Directors’ Report and Shariah Committee's Report, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and those charged with governance for the
Financial Statements

The Directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
financial statements of the Group and of the Bank that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 19565 in Malaysia.
The Directors are also responsible for such intemnal control as the Directors determine
Is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the
Bank that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statemants, the Directors are responsible for assessing the
ability of the Group and of the Bank to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Bank or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to.do so.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements of the Group and of the Bank as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and fo issue an audifors' report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing
in Malaysia will always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in
Malaysia and and International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» ldentify and assess the risk of material misstatemant of the financial statements of
the Group and of the Bank, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate fo provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detacting a
matenal misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, Intentional omissions,
misreprasantations, or the override of internal control,

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in arder to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group

and of the Bank,

= Ewvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

* Conclude on the appropriatenass of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncerainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the ability of the Group and of the Bank lo continue as a going concermn. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group
and of the Bank or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, fulure events or conditions may cause the Group and of
the: Bank to cease to continue as 2 going concemn,
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

= Ewvaluate the averall presentation, structure and contant of the financial statements
of the Group and of the Bank, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements of the Group and of the Bank represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audil. We remain solely responsible for our audit
CHRIr e,

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit,

Other matters

This repaort is made solely to the member of the Bank, as a body, in accordance with
Section 266 of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purposze. We do
not assume respansibility to any other person for the contant of this report,

KPMG PLT Foo Siak Chung
(LLPOD10081-LCA & AF 0758) Approval Number: 3184/02/18(J)
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Petaling Jaya,

Data: 2 5 MAY ZUIM



Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 312552-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Statements of financial position as at

31 December 2016

Azsols

Cash and short-term funds
Deposzits and placemants
with banks and other
financial institutions

Revarse repurchasa
agresments

Financial as=els held-
for-trading

Financial investments
available-for=zale

Loans, advances snd
financing

Other azseis

Tax recoverable

Statutory deposit with
Bank Negara Malaysia

Investiments in subsidiary
companies

Flant and equipment

Defarred tax assals

Total assets
Liabilities and equity

Deposils from customers
Deposils and placemants
of banks and other
financial institutions
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Note

3

h

(== Rt

10
11
12

13

14
15

15

Group EBank
20186 2015 2016 2015
RM'000 RM 000 RM"000 RM"000

4,608,452 5,856,232 4 608 452 5,856,232
1,126 - 1,126 .
608,541 530,140 608,541 530,140
635,245 832,514 635,245 B32 514
1,591 1,581 1.5 1.587
1,880,528 1,332 466 1,880 528 1.332 466
3,849 855 5,001,317 3,848 865 5,001,317
2,970 4532 2,970 4 532
250,000 20.000 250,000 20,000
- - 20 20
4,191 4047 4191 4,047
35,781 26,543 35,781 26,543
11,888,370 13,600,382 11,888 300 13,609,402
4,285 140 4 817 B&Y 4, 285 160 4 B17 577
1,441,194 1,856,651 1,441,194 1,856 651
4,406,607 5,226,784 4,406,607 5,226,784
10,132,841 11900992 101328961 11901012
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Statements of financial position as at
31 December 2016 (continued)

Group Bank
Mote 2016 2015 2016 2015
RM 000 RM'000 RM"000 EM"0DD
Equity
Share capital 16 173,599 173,508 173,509 173,599
Rasarves 17 1,581,830 1,534,791 1,581,830 1,534,791
Total equity attributablz to
owner of the Bank 755429 1708390 1765429 1,708,390
Total liabilities and
equity 11,888,370 13,600,382 11,888,390 13,608,402
Group and Bank
Nole 2016 2015
RM 000 RM'000
Commitments and contingencies 30 112,693,840 120,439,647

The notes on pages 21 to 84 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 312552-W)
{Incorporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2016

Group and Bank

Note 2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Interest income 18 204,351 189,043
Interest expense 18 (71,784) (T4,461)
Met interast income 132,567 114,582
MNet income from lslamic Banking Operations 35 619 1,623
Mon-interest income 20 234011 169,716
Operating income 367,197 285,821
Other operaling expenses 21 [166,200) (132,568)
Operating profit 200,997 153,253
Allowance made for impairment

on loans, advances and financing 22 (5.725) {455)
Profit before tax 185,272 152,793
Tax expense 25  (48,233) _ (40.449)
Net profit and total comprehensive income for the

year 47038 112,349
Earnings per share (sen) 26 84.7 64.7

The notes on pages 21 to 24 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 312552-W)
(Incarporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Statements of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2016

- Attributable to ewner of the Bank
4- Non-distributables Distributable

Share Share Other Retained Total Proposed
Group and Bank Note capital premium reserves earnings reserves dividend Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RMO00 RM'000

At 1 January 2015 173,586 357,763 188,280 876,299 1422442 117,087 1,713,108
Met profit and total comprehensive

income for the year - - - 112,349 112,349 - 12,348
Dividend paid - - - - - {(117,067) {(117.087)
At 31 December 201511 January 2016 173,508 357,763 188,280 088,748 1,534,791 - 1,708,380
MNet profit and total comprahensive

income for the year - - - 147,038 147,039 - 147,039
Dividend paid 27 - - - {100,000) (100,000) - (100,000}
At 31 Dacember 2016 173,589 357,763 188,280 1,035,787 1,581,830 - 1,755,429

Mote 16 Mote 17 Mote 17 Mote 17

The notes on pages 21 to 94 are an integral part of these financial statements,
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Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad
{Company Mo. 312552-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Statements of cash flows for the year ended
31 December 2016

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 195,272 152,798
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of plant and eguipment 043 52
Allowance made for impairment
on lnans, advances and financing 5,725 455
MNet unrealised loss/(gain) on revaluation of trading
portfolio {including derivatives) 486,209 (350,704)
Operating gain/{loss) before changes in
operating assets and liabilities 698,149 (205,589)
(Increase)Decrease in operating assets:
Deposits and placements with banks and other
financial institutions (1,126} -
Reverse repurchase agraements (78,501) {386,981)
Financial assets held-for-trading 197,269 202,834
Loans, advances and financing (563,787) (1,257)
Other assels {1, 746,644) (4,761,446)
Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia (230,000) 11,000
Increasef({Decrease) in operating liabilities:
Deposits from customers (932,418) 268,981
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions (415,457) 874 362
Other liabilities 1,581,710 4879416
Cash (used in)generated from operations (1,000.843) 881,310
Net income taxes paid (55,888) (51,586)

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities (1,146,6083) 829,724
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Statements of cash flows for the year ended
31 December 2016 (continued)

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'0D0 RM'000

Cash flows from investing activity

Purchase of plant and equipment (1,087) {2,232)

Net cash used in investing activity Lo AL0eT)y  (2.232)
Cash flows from financing activity

Dividends paid (1000000  (117,067)

Net cash used in financing activity (100,000} (117.,067)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,247,780} 710,425
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 5.856,232 5145807

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December (Note 3} 4 608 452 5,806,232

The notes on pages 21 to 94 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

{Company No. 312552-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

and its subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements

Deutsche Bank (Malaysia) Berhad (“the Bank") is a public limited liability company
incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The address of both its registered office and
principal place of business is located at Level 18, Menara IMC, 8, Jalan Suitan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur. The consolidated financial statements of the Bank as at and for
the year ended 31 December 2016 comprize the Bank and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the "Group” and individually referred to as "Group entities”).

The Group is principally engaged in banking and related financial services that also
include Islamic Banking business, whilst the principal activities of the subsidianas are
stated at Note 10 to the financial statements.

The immediale and ultimate holding company of the Bank iz Deulsche Bank
Aktiengesellschaft, a bank incorporated in Germany.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on ... b 05

1. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Group and of the Bank have been prepared
in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards ("MFRSs"),
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Pursuant to paragraph 13 of the Guidelines on Classification and
Impairment Provision for Loans/Financing, Bank Negara Malaysia ("BNM")
via its letter dated 4 February 2014 requires all banking institutions to
maintain in aggregate, collective impairment provision and regulatory
reserve of no less than 1.2% over the total outstanding loanffinancing, net
of individual impairment provision. The Bank has complied with the
minimum requirament of the BNM's directive as at 31 December 20186,
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1. Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued)

The following are accounting standards, amendmenis and interpretations
of the MFRS framework thal have been issued by the Malaysian
Accounting Standards Board ("MASEB") but have not been adopted by the
Group and the Bank.

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2017

« Ameaendments to MFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
(Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 20714-2016 Cycla)

«  Amendments to MFRS 107, Stafement of Cash Flows - Disclosure
nitfative

«  Amendments to MFRS 112, lncome Taxes — Recognilion of Deferred
Tax Assefs for Unrealised Losses

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual perfods

beginning on or after 1 January 2018

« MFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2014)

» MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

» Clanfications to MFES 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

« |IC Interpretation 22, Foreign Currency Transaclions and Advance
Consideration

«  Amendments o MFRS 1, Firsl-fime Adoption of Malaysian Financial
Reparting Standards (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2014-2018 Gycle)

= Amendmaeants to MFRS 2, Share-based Payment — Classification and
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

« Amendments to MFRS 4, insurance Confracts — Applying MFRS &
Financial Instruments with MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

«  Amendments to MFRS 128, Invesiments in Associafes and Joint
Ventures (Annual Improvements o MFRS Standards 20714-2016
Cycls)

« Amendments to MFRS 140, invesiment Property — Transfers of
Invaestment Properly
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1. Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued)

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019
« MFRS 18, Leases

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for a date yet to be

confirmed

«  Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statemeants and
MFRS 128, investments in Associales and Joint Venlures — Sale or
Contribution of Assets belween an Investor and its Associate or Join!
Venlure

The Group and the Bank plan to apply the abovemeantioned standards,
amendments and intarpretations, where applicable:

« from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2017 for those
accounting standards, amendments or infterpretations that are
effective for annual perods beginning on or after 1 January 2017;

« from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2018 for those
accounting standards, amendments or interpretations thatl are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018;
and,

« from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019 for those
accounting standards, amendments or interpretations that are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The initial application of the accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations are not expected to have any material financial impact to
the current period and prior period financial statements of the Group and
the Bank except as mentioned in the subsequent paragraphs:
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1. Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued)

(b)

()

MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

MFRS 15 replaces the guidance in MFRS 111, Construction Confracis,
MFRS 118, Revenue, IC Interpretation 13, Customer Loyaflly Programmaes,
IC Interpretation 15, Agreemenits for Construclion of Real Esiafe, |C
Interpretation 18, Transfers of Assels fom Customers and 1C
Interpretation 131, Revenue - Barfer Transacfions Imvolving Adverfising
Sarnices.

MFRS 9, Financial Instruments

MFRS 9 replaces the guidance in MFRS 138, Financial instruments:
Recognifion and Measurement on the classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, and on hedge accounting.

MFRS 16, Leases

MFRS 16 replaces the guidance in MFRS 117, Leases, IC Interpretation 4,
Determining whether an Arrangement confains a Lease, IC Interpretation
115, Operating Leases - Incentives and |C Interpretation 127, Evaluating
ihe Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Leass.

The Group is currently assessing the financial impact that may arise from
the adoption of MFRS 15, MFRS 9 and MFRS 16.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements of the Group and the Bank have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except as mentioned in the respective
accounting policy notes.

The financial statements incorporate all activities relating to the Islamic
Banking business which have been undertaken by the Group and the Bank.
Islamic Banking business refers generally o the acceptance of deposits
and granting of financing under the principles of Sharah.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("BM™) which is
also the functional currency of the Bank. All financial information is
presentad in EM and has been rounded o the nearest thousand {RMO00),
unless otherwise stated.
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1. Basis of preparation (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from thess estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and crifical judgaments used in
applying accountiing policies that have significant effect on the amount
recognised in the financial statements include fair value estimation for
financial instruments as disclosed in Note 2(c)(vi).

2. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the
periods presented in these financial statements, and have been applied
consistently by the Group entities, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiares are entities, including structurad entities, controlled by
the Bank. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included In the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.

The Bank controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
fo affect those refurns through its power over the entity. Potential
voting rights are considered when assessing control only when such
rights are substantive. The Bank also considers it has de facto power
over an investes when, despite not having the majority of voting rights,
it has the current ability fo direct the activities of the investee that
significantly affect the investee's retum.

Investmeants in subsidiaries are measured in the Bank's statement of

financial position at cost less any impairment losses, unless the
investment is classified as held for zale or distdbution, The cost of

investment includes transaction costs.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b)

()

(i1}

(iii}

Loss of contral

Upon the loss of contral of a subsidiary, the Bank derscognisas the
assets and liabilities of the former subsidiary, any non-controlling
interests and the other components of equity related to the former
subsidiary from the consclidated statement of financial position. Any
surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or
loss., If the Bank retains any interast In tha former subsidiary, then such
interest is measured at fair value at the date thal control is lost.
Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity accounted investee or
as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of
influence retained.

Transactions eliminated on consclidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income

and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are aliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and balances with banks and
other financial institutions, and shori-term deposits maturing within one
month.

Cash and cash equivalents are categorised and measured as loans and
receivables in accordanca with policy Note 2(c)(ii)b).

Financial instruments

(i)

Initial recognition and measurement

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statements
of financial position when, and only when, the Group or the Bank
becomes a party to the confractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issua of the financial instrument.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

{¢) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(if)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host
contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if, it is not closely
related to the economic characleristics and risks of the host contract
and the host contract is not categorised at fair value through profit or
lozs. The hosl contract, in the event an embedded dervative is
recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy
applicable to the nature of the host contract,

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement

The Group and the Bank categorise financial instruments as follows:

Financial assets
{a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial
assets that are held for trading, including derivatives or financial
assels thal are specifically designated into this category upon

initial recognition.

Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of
ungquoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot be reliably
measured are measured at cost.

Financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently measured at their fair values with the gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss,

{b] Loans and recelvables

Loans and receivables category comprises debt instruments that
are not quoted in an active market.

Financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are
subsequently measured at amorbised cost using the effective
interest method.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial instrument categories and subseguent measurement
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)
fc) Financial investments available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial asssts are non-derivative financial
assets, comprising investment in equity and debt securities
instruments that are not categorised intc any of the other
categories above. Financial assets available-for-sale are usually
held for an indefinite perod of time, which may be sold in
response to liquidity reguirement or changes in market
conditions.

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost. Other financial assets
categorised as avallable-for-sale are subseguently measured at
thelr fair values with the gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign
exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items which
are recognised in profit or loss. On derecognition, the cumulative
gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity into profit or loss. Interest calculated for
a debl Instrument using the effective interest method is
recagnised in profit or loss,

All financial assets, except for those measured al fair value through
profit or loss, are subject to review for impaiment (ses Note 2(d)(i)).

Firnancial Kabilities
All financial liabiliies are subsequently measured at amortised cost

other than those categorised as fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities
that are held for trading, including denvatives or financial liabilities that
are speacifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.

Derivativas that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of
unguoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot be rellably
measured are measured at cost,
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities categonsed as fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at their fair values with the gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the onginal or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Fair value arising from financial guarantes contracts are classified as
deferred income and are amortised to profit or loss using straight-line
method over the contractual period or, when there is no specified

contractual period, recognised in profit or loss upon discharge of the
guarantee, When settiement of a financial guarantee contract
becomes probable, an estimate of the obligation is made. If the
carrying value of the financial guarantee contract is lower than the
obligation, the carrying value is adjusted to the obligation amount and
accountad for as a provision.

Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial
asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the tima frame established generally by regulation or convention in the
marketplace concerned.

A regular way purchase or sale of inancial assels is recognised and
derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting, Trade date
accounting refers to:

(@) the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay
for it on the trade date, and

(b} derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or
loss on disposal and the recognition of a receivable from the

buyer for payment on the trade date.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Derecognition

A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or
the financial asset is transferred (o another party without retaining
control or substantially all risks and rewards of the assel. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference betweaen tha carrying
amount and the sum of the considaration received {including any naw
assel obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in the
profit or loss.

A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when,
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or
expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference
between the camying amount of the financial liability extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any
nan-cash assets fransferred or liabilties assumed, is recognised in the
profit or loss.

Determination of fair value

Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment
and lease transactions, is determined as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liakility in an orderly
transaction between market pariicipants at the measurement date.
The measurament assumes that the fransaction to sell the asseat or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the
abzence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account
a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and bast use or by selling it to ancther market
participant that would use the assel in its highest and best use.

When measuring the fair value of an assat or a liability, the Group uses
observable market data as far as possible. Fair value are categorised
into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used
in the valuation technigue as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) In active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement dale.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)
{vi) Determination of fair value (continued)

Level 2; inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or ligbility, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that
causad the transfers.

For financial instruments measured at fair value, where available,
quoted and observable market prices in an active market or dealer
price quotations are used to measure fair value. These Include listed
equity securities and broker quotes on BEloomberg and Reuters,

Where such quoted and observable market prices are not available,
fair values are determined using appropriate valuation technigues,
which include the use of mathematical models, such as discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models, comparison to similar
instrumants for which market observable prices exist and other
valuation techniquss. Valuation techniques used Incorporate
assumptions regarding discount rates, interestprofit rate yield curves,
estimates of future cash flows and other factors, as applicable. The
Group and the Bank generally use widely recognised valuation
techniques with market observable inputs. if available, for the
detarmination of fair value.

If prices and parameler inputs or assumptions are not observable, the
appropriateness of fair value is subject to additional procedures to
assess its reasonableness. Such procedures include performing
revaluations using independently generated models, assessing the
valuations against appropriate proxy instruments, performing
sensitivity analysis and extrapolation technigues, and considering
other benchmarks, Assessment is made as o whather the valuation
techniques yield fair value estimates that are reflective of the way the
markat operates by calibrating the results of the valuation models.
Thesa procedures require the application of management judgement.

Investments in unguoted equity instruments whose fair values cannot
be reliably measured are measured at cost. and assessed for
impairment at each reporting date.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)

(vii) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the statements of financial position when there is a legally
enforceabla right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and to setfle
the liability simultanecusly. This is not generally the case with master
netting agreements and therefore, the related assets and liabilities are
presented on a gross basis in the stalements of financial pasition.

(d) Impairment

(i)

Financial assets

All financial assets {(except for financial assets categorised as fair
value through profit or loss and investments in subsidiaries) are
assessed at each reporting date whether thers is any objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the assst Losses
expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not
racoghised. For an equity Instrument, a significant or proloenged
decline in the fair value below its cost is an objective evidence of
impairment. if any such objective evidence exists, then the impairment
loss of the financial assets is estimated.

In respect of loans, advances and financing, the Group and the Bank
first assess whether objective evidence of Impairment exists
individually for loans which are individually significant, or collectively
for loans which are notl individually significant. An individually
assessed loan is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more avenls
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the loans (an incurred
“loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
present value of estimated future cash flows of the loans that can be
reliably estimated.

Objective evidence of Impairment may include indications that a
borrower or a group of borrowers s experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delingquency in interest or principal payments, that
it s possible that they will enter bankruplcy or other financial
reorganisation and that there are observable data indicating a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlats with default.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Impairment (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

If there is objective evidence thal an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of loss is measured as the difference batween
the loan's carrving amount and the present valua of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan's original affective interast
rate. The carrying amount of the loan is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of loss is recognised in the profit
or koss, Where appropriate, the calculation of the present value of
estimated future cash flows of a collateralised loan reflects the cash
flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for oblaining and
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

Where a loan is not recoverable, it s written off against the related
allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after the
necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the
loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of the amounts
previously written off are recognised in the profit or loss.

Under the Guidelines on Classification and Impairment Provision for
Loans/Financing issuad by BMM whers lnans, advances and financing
that s past due for more than 90 days/3 months shall be classified as
impaired. The Bank applies this policy in addition to the above when
determining if a koan is impaired

An impairment loss in respect of financial investments available-for-
sale is recognised in profit or loss and is measured as the difference
between the asset's acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and the asset's current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised. Where a decline in the fair
value of a financial investment available-for-sale has been recognised
in the other comprehensive income, the cumulative loss in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity and recegnised fo
profit or loss,

An impairment loss in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is
carried at cost is recognized in profit or loss and is measured as the
difference between the asset's carnying amount and the present valus
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rale of
return for a similar financial asset.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Impairment (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an Investment in an
equity instrument classified as available-for-sale is not reversed
through profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurming after
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment
loss is reversed, to the extent that the asset's camying amount does
not excesd what the carrying amount would have been had the
impairment nol been recognised at the date the impaiment is
reversed, The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Othar assets

The carrying amounts of other assets (except for deferred 1ax assets)
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to detemine whathar
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other
assets or groups of assels (the “cash-generating unit™).

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset or cash-generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or
its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairmeant losses are recognisad in profit or loss, Impairmeant losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce
the carrving amounts of the other assets in the cash-ganerating unit
{groups of cash-generating units) on a pro rafa basis,
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Impairment (continued)

(i) Other assets (continued)

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end
of each reporting period for any indications that the loss has
decreasaed or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed [f there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An impairment
lnss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount
does not exceed the camying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss
had been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are cradited to
profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(e) Repurchase agreements

(f)

Reverse repurchase agreements are securities which the Bank commits to
resell at future dates and is reflected as an asset.

Repurchase agreements are obligations which the Bank commits fo
repurchase at future dates and is reflected as a liability.

Plant and equipment

(i)

Recognition and measurement

[tems of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Cost includes expenditures that are direclly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset and any other costs directly attributable fo
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on
which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also
includes the cost of materials and direct labour,

When significant parts of an item of plant and equipment have different
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major

components) of plant and equipment.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Plant and equipment (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

(Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are
determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying
amount of plant and equipment and are recognised net within “ather
income” and “other expenses” respectively in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the
future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group or the Bank, and its cost can be measured reliably, The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised to profit or loss. The cosls
of the day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount, which is the
cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual
value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of plant and
equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useflul lives unless it is reasonably certain that the
Group or the Bank will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative perods are

as follows:

Renovations 5 =10 years
Office equipment 4 — 10 years
Computer equipment and software 3 —5 years
Fumiture and fittings 5 —10 years
Motor vehicles A—5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate at end of the reporting period.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)

(h)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and
deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to a business combination or items recognised diractly in equity or
other comprehensive Income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income
or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respeact
of previous financial years,

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the statements of financial position and their tax basas.

Deferred tax is measured al the tax rates that are expected to be applied
to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
peariod.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probabie that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can
be ulilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised.

Recognition of interest and financing income and expense

Interest and financing income and expense for all interest-bearing financlal
instruments are recognised in the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income using the effective interest rates of the financial
assets or financial liabilities to which they relate.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter pericd, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Group and the Bank estimate cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but not future
credit losses. The calculation includes all amounts paid or received by the
Bank that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, including
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)

(i)

(k)

Recognition of fees and other income

Loan arrangement fees and commissions are recegnised as income when
all conditions precedent are fulfilled.

Commitment fees and guarantee fees are recognised as income based on
time apportionment aver the confractual period.

Dividends from securities are recognised when the rght to receive payment
iz established.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency
of the Group and the Bank al exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions,

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
reporting period are retransiated to the funclional currency at the exchange
rate at that date.

Mon-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cumencies that
are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign
currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the profit or

loss.
Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits

Wages, salares, bonuses and soclal security contributions are
recognised as an expense in the year in which the associated sarvices
are rendered by employees of the Group and the Bank. Shor-term
accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leaves arg
recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase
their entitiement to future compensated absences, and short-lerm
non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick lsave are
recognised when the absences occur.

(i} Defined contribution plan

As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the
state pension scheme, the Employees’ Provident Fund ("EPF"). Such
contributions are recognised as expense in the statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as incurred.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k) Employee benefits (continued)

(iliy Share-based compensation

The Group and the Bank participate in equity-setlied and cash settled
share based compensation plan for the employees that is offered by
the ultimate holding company, Deutsche Bank Akltiengesellschaft, a
bank incorporated in Germany, The fair value of the services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense
in the profit of loss over the vesting periods of the grant.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumplions aboul the number of options
that are expected to vest. At reach reporting date, the Group and the
Bank revise Ils estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest. It recognise the impact of the revision of criginal estimates, if
any, in the profit or loss.

(I) Operating lease

Leases, where the Group and the Bank do not assume substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases and,
except for property interest held under operating lease, the leased assets
are not recognised on the statements of financial position.

Payments made under operaling leases are recognised in the statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in
profit or loss as an infegral part of the total lease expense, over the term of

the leasa.
(m) Provisions

A provision is recognised If, as a resull of a pasl event, the Group or the
Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated
reliably, and it is probable that an oulflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determinad by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost,
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3.

Cash and short-term funds
Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'O00 RM"000

Cash and balances with banks and other

financial institutions 294 572 651,907
Money at call and deposit placements
maturing within one manth 4,313,800 5204325

4,608,452 5,856,232

Deposits and placements with banks and other financial
institutions

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Other financial institutions 1,126

Financial assets held-for-trading

Group and Bank
2016 20135
RM 000 RM 000

At fair value

Malaysian Government Securities 490,502 283,324
Malaysian Investment 1ssue 142,658 222048
Cagamas bonds 2,085 27,142

300,000
635245 832514

Megotiable instruments of deposit

Financial investments available-for-sale

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
At cost
Unquoted shares in Malaysia 1,581 1,991
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T+

.1

7.2

Loans, advances and financing

At amortised cost
Chiardrafts
Term loans - housing lcans
- other term loans
Bills receivable
Claims on customers under acceptance credits
Staff loans

Uneamed interest

Gross loans, advances and financing
Allowance for impalred loans and financing
- Collective assessment allowance

- Individual assessment allowance

Met lnans, advances and financing

41

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RIM000
130,457 71,394
15,050 18,110
228,226 196,128
677,220 240,143
871,013 819,245

3,356 3,739
1,025,331 1,348,750
(17.803) __ (6,710}
1,907,528 1,342,049
(16,822) (9,268)

(178)  (315)
1,800,528 1,332,466

The maturity structure of gross loans, advances and financing are as follows:

Maturing within one year
One year to three years
Three years to five years
Owver five years

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM’000
1,870,033 1,290,887

23,161 3,606
1,527 31,368
12,807 16,008
10075286 1,342,049

Gross |loans, advances and financing analysed by type of customer are as

follows:

Domestic banking institutions

Domestic non-bank financial institutions
Domestic business enterprises
Individuals

Gavernment and statutory bodies
Foreign entities

1,807,528

Group and Bank
2016 20135
RM 000 RM'0D0
2,546 1,729
220,504 -
874,918 973,534
18,415 21,849
108,782 114,868
672,363 230,049

1,342,049
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7. Loans, advances and financing (continued)

7.3 Gross loans, advances and financing analy=ed by interest/profit rate sensitivity
are as follows:

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM’000
Fixed rate
- Other fixed rate loanffinancing 3.2 3,738
Variable rate
- Base lending rate plus 42,347 37.075
- Cost plus 1,859,986 1,208,911
- Other varable rates 1,964 2,324
1,907,528 1,342,049
7.4 Gross loans, advances and financing analysed by their economic sector are as
follows:
Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Mining and Quarying 2,748 -
Manufacturing 339,073 347,618
Canstruction 72,004 21,628
Wholesale & retail trade and restaurants & hotel 205 397 248123
Transport, storage and communication 242 332 189,723
Finance, insurance and business services 917,777 513,108
Education, health and others 109,782 -
Housahold 18,415 21,849
1,907,528 1,342,049
7.5 (3ross loans, advances and financing analysed by geographical distribution are
as follows:
Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM 000
Malaysia 1,235,165 1,112,000
China 102,124 69,504
Singapora 175,237 48,679
India 328,747 44,144
Holland - 35,182
Turkey 30,746 8,176
Others 37,508 26,364

1,007,528

1,342,049
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7.8

7.8.1

182

Loans, advances and financing (continued)

Movements in impaired loans, advances and financing are as follows:

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM 000 RM'000

At 1 January 2,982 3.537
Classified as impaired during the year 638 517
Reclassified as non-impaired during the year (540) (864)
Amounts recoverad (446) (208)
Al 31 December 2 634 2,982
Gross impaired loans as a percentage

of gross loans, advances and financing 0.14% 0.22%

Movements in the allowance for impaired loans, advances and financing are
as follows:

Collective assessment allowance

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'D00 RM'000

At 1 January 9,268 8,807
Allowance made during the year 7,554 461
At 31 December 16,822 9,268
As a percentage of gross loans, advances and

financing less individual impairment provision 0.88% 0.69%

Individual assessment allowance

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM 000
At 1 January 315 304
Allowance made during the year 126 42
Amount recovered [(263) (31)

Al 31 December 178 315
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7 A

Loans, advances and financing (continued)

7.6.3 Impaired loans, advances and financing analysed by economic sector and

10.

geographical distibution are as follows:

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'00D RM'000

Household (Malaysia) 2634 2,982

Other assets

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Interest/income receivable T.928 8,639
Margin placed with exchange 21,761 2,419
Derivatives (Note 33.3) 2,778,605 3,647,273
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments 1,041,571 1,343,086

3,640,865 5,001,317

Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia

The non-interest bearing statutory deposit is maintained with Bank Negara
Malaysia in compliance with Section 26{2)(c) and Section 26(3) of the Central
Bank of Malaysia Act, 2009, the amount of which is determined as a set
percentage of total eligible liabilities.

Investments in subsidiary companies
Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted shares, at cost 20 20
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10. Investments in subsidiary companies (continued)

Details of the subsidiaries which are incorporated in Malaysia are as follows:

Mame

OB (Malaysia) Mominee
(Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad

DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing)

Effective
ownership
intarest
Principal activities 2016 2015
Nominee services 100%  100%
Nominee services 100%  100%

Sdn. Bhd.

Al income and expenditure In respect of the subsidiary companies operations
are taken up by the Bank.

The subsidiary companies are audited by KPMG.

11. Plant and equipment

Group and Bank

Cost

At 1 January 2015

Additons

At 31 Dacember 2015/
1 January 2076

Additions

Al 31 December 2016

Accumulated
depreciation

At 1 January 2015

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2015/
1 January 2016

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2016

Carrying amounis

AL January 2015

Al 31 December 20737
1 January 2016

Af 31 December 2016

Computer
eguipment Furniture

Office and and Mator

Renovations equipment software fittings vehicles Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM Q000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
11,109 5,238 14,866 3,774 487 35454

75 35 2115 i - 2,232

11,184 5,273 16,281 3,781 487  37.GBG

= 80 30 046 a1 - 1,087
11,264 5303 17827 3812 467 38773
10,980 4,565 13,500 3,378 264 32 687

7B 1598 500 83 a4 852

11,056 4,764 14,000 3,461 358 33,638

a4 162 547 B8 94 B43

11,140 4, 4926 14,537 3,927 452 34,582

129 G732 1,366 396 203 2.767

128 509 2,981 320 1049 4,047

124 37T 3,280 285 15 4191
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12. Deferred tax assets

13.

The recognised net deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:

Plant and equipment - capital allowances
Collective impairment assessmaent for loans

Others

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
(103) (40)
4 037 2410
31,827 24173
35,761 26,543

The movements in net deferred tax assets during the financial year are as

follows:

At 1 January

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 25)

At 31 December

Deposits from customers

Demand deposits
Savings deposits
Fixed deposils
Other deposits

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
268,543 22,330
___ B8 4,213
35,761 28,542
Group Bank
2016 2015 2016 2015
RM'00D RM'000 RM'000 RM000
3.807 414 3,660,188 3,907 434 3,660,208
3,136 3,789 3,136 3,789
115,040 326,352 115,040 326,352
259,550 827,228 2589 550 827 228
4,285,140 4,817,557 4285160 4,817,577
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13. Deposits from customers (continued)

13.1 The maturity structure of fixed deposits and other deposits are as follows:

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Due within six months 276,084 990,951
More than six months to one year 6,813 87,593
More than one year to three years 207 192
Mora than five years 91 476 74 844

374,500 1,153,580

13.2 The deposits are sourced from the following types of customers:

Group Bank
2016 2015 2016 2015
RM"000 RM 000 RM'000 RM'000
Business enterprises 3,564,977 3,455 672 3,564,897 3,455,692
Individuals 25,728 33,342 25,728 33,242
Foreign customers 109,666 478,933 109,666 478,933
Others 584,769 849,610 584,769 849,610
4,285,140 4,817,557 4,285,160 4817577

14. Deposits and placements of banks and other financial

institutions
Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM’000 RM'0D0

Other financial institutions 1,441,194 1.856 651
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15. Other liabilities

Interest payable

Bills payable
Derivatives (Note 33.3)
Empioyee benefits
Other liabllities

16. Share capital

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of RM1 each 200,000 200,000

lssued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of RM1 each 173,509

17. Reserves

Non-distributable:
Share premium
Statutory reserve
Regulatory reserve

Distributable:
Retained profits

48

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'00D RM'000
24378 3,465
57 070 a0.612
2819612 3,196,221
13,464 19,660
1514083 1918826

4 406 607 5 226,784

Group and Bank

Number of shares Amount
2018 2015 2016 2015
'000 D00 RM'000 RM0a0
200,000 200,000
173,690 173 509 173,609

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
367763 357,763
174,722 174,722
13,908 13,558
188,280 188,280
1035787 088,748

1,581 830  1,534,72
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17.

18.

19.

Reserves (continued)

49

The statutery reserve is maintained In compliance with Section 12 of the
Financial Services Act, 2013 and is not distributable as cash dividends.

The requlatory reserve is maintained to comply with Bank Negara Malaysia's
directive dated 4 February 2014 which required the Bank fto maintain in
aggregate, collective impairment provisions and regulatory reserves of not less
than 1.2% of total outstanding loansffinancing, net of individual impairment

provision.

Subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue Board, the Bank has tax exempt
income to frank approximately RMS,541,000 (2015: RM5,541,000) of its retained

profits as at 31 December 2016 if paid out as dividend,

Interest income

Loans and advances
- Interest income other than recoveries from
impairead loans
Money at call and deposit placements with
financial Institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Financial assets held-for-trading

Interest expense

Deposits and placements of banks and othsr
financial institutions

Obligations on securities sold under repurchase
agreements

Deposits from customers

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM000 RM'000

54,567 53,734
111,764 73,554
6,682 13,795

31,338 47 960

204,351 169,043

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
10,681 10,911
681 396
61,032 63154

71,784 74,461
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20. Non-interest income
Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Fee income:
Commissions 15,687 12107
Service charges and feas 40,916 34,642
Guarantee fees 5434 5,582
1= 52,331
Fee expense:
Commissions {5,881) (4,535)
Service charges and fees _ (10,414)  (4,831)
{16,295) (9,366)
Met fee income 45,742 - 42065
Met gains from financial instruments:
Met gain arising on financial assets
held-for-trading:
Realised gain 15,138 14,455
Unrealised (loss)gain (2,362) 3,926
Met loss arising on trading derivatives:
Realised loss (137,929) (407 658)
Unrealised (loss)gain (493.847) 355,868
Forelgn exchange gain 788,848 137,851
Gross dividend income 108 108
Other income:
Other operaling income, net 173 22,101
88268 o 128751
234,011 168,716
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21. Other operating expenses

a1

Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Personnel costs
- Salaries, allowances and bonuses 44 990 81,253
- Contributions to Employees’ Provident Fund 773 8,162
- Others 6,072 5,618
Establishment costs
- Rental 2911 2,802
- Depreciation 943 952
- Others 5,670 4178
Markeling expenses 1,923 1,956
Administration and general expanses
- Intercompany expenses 58,408 45,724
- Communication 1,980 1,700
- Auditors' remuneration

- statutory audit fee 138 143

- pther services 93 a0
- Professional fees 24,500 3.280
- Others 10,840 6,712

166,200 132,568

The number of employees of the Group and the Bank at the end of the year was

223 (2015: 215).

22. Allowance made for impairment on loans, advances and

financing
Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM 000

Indhvidual assessment allowance

- made during the year (128) {42)

- written back 263 31
Collective assessment allowance

made during the year (7.554) (461)
Recoveries from bad debts written off 1,692 17

{5,725)

(433)
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23. Related parties

Identity of related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be
related to the Group if the Group or the Bank has the ability, directly or indirectly,
to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Bank and the party
are subject to common contral or common significant influence. Related parties
may be individuals or other entities.

The Group has related party relationship with its holding company, other related
companies, Directors and key management personnel.

Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in Note 24.

Other significant related party transactions and balances of the Group and the
Bank are as follows:

Other
Holding Subsidiary related
company companies companies

2016 RM'000 RM'000 RM 000

Inceme

Interest on advances and deposits 2,537 - -

Dther fee income 8,515 - 11,0683

Other operating income 10,706 = 5,648
22 758 = 16,741

Expenditure

Interast on advanceas 3,868 - 81

Other fee expenses 317 - 8,440

Other operating expenses 57,330 - 1,887
81,515 . 10,408

Amount due from

Cash and shori-term funds 414,164 - &08

Other assets

- Others 21,484 . 2.315

- Derivativas 255,661 . 316

781,309 - 3,239
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23. Related parties (continued)

20186

Amount due to

Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions

Other liabilities

- Dthers

- Darivatives

- Interest payable

2015

Income

Interest on advances and deposits
Other fee income

Other operating income

Expenditure

Interest on advances
Other fee expenses
Other operating expenses

Armount due from

Cash and short-term funds
Other assets

- Others

- Derivatives

53

Other
Holding Subsidiary refated
company companies companies
RM'000 RM"00D RM'000
883,533 20 31,360
143,857 - 10,508
285 924 - 0,376
) T8 - B
1,413,292 20 91,253
Other
Haolding Subsidiary related
company companies companies
RM'000 RM'000 RM'00DO0
2,226 - 6
1,833 . 2,886
15,227 - 6,874
19,286 ~ 9,766
778 - 556
1HE £ 2,712
44,786 - 1,102
2,970,938 - 76,035
213,130 - 1,597
126,988 i
3,311,056 a 77,632

L ———e
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23. Related parties (continued)

24

Other
Holding Subsidiary related
company companies companies
2015 RM'000 RM'O00D RM 00D
Amount due to
Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions 1,246,364 20 20,145
Other liabilities
- Others 313,952 - 16,218
- Derivatives 284 626 - -
- Interest payable 373 - 315
1,845,315 20 36678

All outstanding balances with these related parties are priced on an amm's length

basiz. Mone of the balances is securad,

Credit transactions and exposures with connected parties

Outstanding credit exposures with connected
parties

Of which:
Total credit exposures which is non-performing

Total cradit exposures

Percentage of outstanding credit exposuras o
connected parties

- as a proportion of total credit exposures

- as a proportion of capital base

- which is non-parforming

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
_ 643324 588,053
648 324 7,085,677
5.93% 6.44%

37.45% 35.40%
0% 0%

o —
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23. Related parties (continued)

Credit transactions and exposures to connected parties as disclosed above
includes the extension of credit facilities andfor off-balance sheet credit
exposures such as guarantees, trade-relaled facilities and loan commitments. It
also includes hoidings of equities and private debt securities issued by the

connected parties,

The credit transactions with connected parties above are all transacted on an
arm’s length basis and on terms and conditions no more favourable than those
entered into with other counterparties with similar circumstances and credr
worthiness. Due care has been taken to ensure that the credit worthiness of the
connected party is not less than that normally required of other persons.
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24. Key management personnel compensation

The key management parsonnel compensation are as follows:

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Executive Director (Chief Executive Officer)

Dato' Yusof Annuar bin Yaacob

- Salary and other remuneration 2424 2,425
- Bonuses av3 1,631
- Benefits-in-kind 39 31

Non-Executive Directors

Fees
- Tun Mohamed Dzaiddin bin Haji Abdullah 300 300
- Tunku Dato’ Mahmood Fawzy bin Tunku

Muhiyiddin 101 .
. Dato’ Ahmad Johari bin Abdul Razak 130 200
- Mr. Ng Soon Lai @ Ng Siek Chuan 150 120
- Mr. Steven Choy Khai Choon 150 120
- Madam Koid Swee Lian 10 -
Other remuneration
- Tun Mohamed Dzaiddin bin Haji Abduliah 52 50
- Tunku Data' Mahmood Fawzy bin Tunku

Muhtyiddin 19 -
- Dato” Ahmad Johar bin Abdul Razak 19 22
- Mr. Ng Soon Lai @ Mg Siek CGhuan 43 44
- Mr. Steven Choy Khal Choon 41 39

4,451 4,882
Other key management parsonnel
- Short-term employee benefits 4 297 4,478
- Share-based paymenis 1 121
4,298 4,599

Other key management personnel comprise persons other than the Diractors of
Group entities, having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the entity either directly or indirectly.
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25.

26.

Tax expense

57

Group and Bank

2016 2015
EM'O00 RM'000
Cuvrrent income fax
Current year 52,106 46,089
Under/{Over) provision in prior year 5,345 {1,427}
57,451 44,662
Deferred tax expanse
Origination and reversal of temporary
differences (1,841) (4,977)
Over provision in prior year (7.377) (129)
Effects of change in tax rate - 893
(9.218) (4,213}
48,233 40,449
Reconciliation of tax expense
Profit before tax 195,272 162,798
Tax at Malaysian tax rate of 24% (2015: 25%) 46,665 38,200
MNon-deductible expenses 3,400 2,689
Effects of changes in tax rate - 1,106
50,265 42 005
Owverprovision in prior year {2,032} {1,556)
48233 _ 40,449

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic eamings per share for the year ended 31 December
2016 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and a
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

Group
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Profits attributable to ordinary shareholders 147,039 112,349
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
- Issued ordinary shares during the year 173,599 173,598
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26.

27,

28.

Earnings per share (continued)
Group
2016 2015
(sen) (sen)
Basic eamings per share 84.7 64.7

Diluted earnings per share

The Group has no dilution in its eamings per ordinary share in the current
financial year as the Group does not have dilutive instruments.

Dividends

Dividends recognised by the Bank:

Group and Bank

Sen per Total Date of
share amount Payment
2015 RM000
Final 2015 ordinary 57.6 100,000 29 July 20186

After the end of the reporting period, the Directors recommended final dividend
of 84.7 sen per ordinary share totalling RM 147,038,000 in respect of the financial
year ended 31 December 2016, This dividend will be recognised in the
subsequent financial year upon approval by the sharsholders of the Bank,

Operating leases

Leases as lesses
Mon-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
Group and Bank

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Less than one year 2 805 2,847
Between ane and five years 454 3,258
3256 6,105

The Group and Bank leases office premise under operating lease. The lease
typically runs for a period of 3 years, with an opfion to renew the lease after that
date. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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29. Capital adequacy

Components of Tier 1 and Tier 2
capital are as follows:

Tier 1 capital

Paid-up share capital
Share premium

Statutory reserve
Relained profits

Less: Deferred tax assets

Total common equity tier 1/Total tier 1 capital

Tier 2 capital
Collective assessment allowance #
Regulatory reserva

Total capital base

Common equity tier 1/Tier 1 capital ratio
Total capital ratio

a9

Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM 000
173,589 173,599
A57,763 a57 763
174,722 174,722
1,035,787 988,748
(35,761) (26,543)
1,708,110 1,668,289
11,351 7,460
13,558 13,558
1,731,019 1,689,307
21.868% 19.323%
22.187% 19.567%

The capital adequacy ratios of the Group and of the Bank are computed in
accordance with Bank Negara Malaysia's Capital Adequacy Framework (Capital
Components and Basel || — Risk-weighted Assets). The Group and the Bank
have adopted the Standardised Approach for Credit Risk and Market Risk, and
the Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risk. The minimum regulatory
capital adequacy requirement is 8% for the risk-weighted capital ratio.

# Excludes collective assessment allowance on impaired loans restricted
from Tier 2 capital of the Bank of RMS,471,000 (2015: RM1,808,000).

The breakdown of risk-weighted assets ("RWA") by each major risk category is

as follows:
%0 CResEE 0h  Risk Weighted Assets
o 2016 2015
EK000 RM'000
1 Credit risk 4 617,845 4 367 429
2 Market risk 2,570,452 3,706 633
3 Operational risk 613,663 550 457 1
Total 7,801,960 8,633,519 |
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30. Commitments and contingencies

The ofi-balance sheet exposures and their related counterparty credit risk of the
Group and of the Bank are as follows:

RA'Q00 R0 RM GO0

Direct Credit Substitules = . -

ransaction Relaled Contingent lems 124,468 262 234 335371
Short-Tarm Self Liguidating Trade Related contingencies | _g;“??_.fﬂi = _ﬁﬁﬁ.gl_l_ig Frt __-;tz;;gg
Foreign exchange related contracts et e < N

3 yaar or less B725.:214 404 452 394,771

Crwesr ane year fo fiva years 1,264,985 84.07TE B4,078
Cieer five years 10 4¥5 | 34,152 17,076

terestProfit rate related contracts ! i -
Cine year or k2ss 247,678 B3040 53,038
Cwer ong year bo five years 1,187,640 31,645 158,541
Crar live years 33,663 3368 673
Equity refated confracts
O year of less . L .
v ol wesar 1o flve wears & 5 .
OwEr (i Wiars a = =
Credil Derivative Confracts
Cine year or less - -
Chear ana yaar ko flve years = =
Lheer [ive yearns -
OTC  Daerivative  transactions  and  credit  derivativel
contracts subject to walid bilateral netting agreamants OF 338 433 | 2461115 516,432
(Other commitments, such as formal standby facilifies and)
credif lines, with an ariginal maturity of over one year 224 027 112 014 112,014
(Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and|
feredit lines, with an criginal maturity of up to one year 2327474 465,483 454,123
Ay commitments that are unconditionally cancelled a
any tirme by the Bank without prior motica or that effectival

rovide for automatic cancellation due te deterioration

barrewer's craditerorthiness - - -
ll'ﬂl!i 12683840 | 4007 8577) 2,062,738
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30. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

The off-balance sheet exposures and their related counterparty credit risk of the

Group and of the Bank are as follows (confinued):
T
T

Rht'000 RN G0

Direct Credil Substitutes - e E
Transaction Related Contingent Hems 357.038 408 5659 456,666
Short-Term Self Liguidating Trade Related contingencies 471201 | 94240 81,340
oreign exchange related contracts Lt o 55 _f: BB e
ne year of less 8,732,796 250,204 273 484
vigr ong year to e yeans 6015004 | 1.118077 10,014
ver five years a1, 568G 34,312 17,237
nterest/Profit rate related contracts : ; '
ne yearor lass 1,136,150 2,952 2,202
Cwer one year to five years ar2.040 3.0 18,646
i five years d3,663 3,703 741

quity ralated coniracis
i yEar of less = + -
r Grie year tofive years - % &
Ffive years . H £
redit Derivative Contracis
yEar or 655 =
rane year Lo live years -
er five yaars 5 £

TG  Derivalive transactions and credit derivative
ntracts suhject to valid bilateral netting agreamenis 75807200 [ 2954026 612,350

r commitmenis, such as formal standby facilities and
edit lines, with an original maturity of ower ofe year 20 15 158

her commitments, such as formal standby facllitles and)
dit lines, with an ariginal maturity of up to one year 2,385,030 477,806 442 9495

Any commitments that are unconditionally cancelled at
any time by the Bank without prior notice or that effectively
rovide for automatic cancellation dus to deterioration In
borrower's credibworthiness . =

Todal 120430647 5502314 | 2415506
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31.

32.

Capital management

The wide variaty of the Group's businesses requires the Group to identify,
measure, aggregate and allocate capital among the businesses appropriately.
The Group manages capital through a framework of principles, organisational
structures as well as measurement and monitoring processas thal are closely
aligned with the activities of group divisions. While the Group capital
management continuously evolves and improves, there can be no assurance
that all market developments, in particular those of exireme nature, can be fully
anticipated at all timas.

The Group manages capital in a coordinated manner at all relevant levels within
the organisation, This also holds true for complex products which the Group
typically manages within the framework astablished for trading exposures. The
structure of capital function is closely aligned with the structure of group
divisions.

The Group's and the Bank's requlatory capital are determined under Bank
Negara Malaysia's revised Risk-weighted Capital Adeguacy Framework and
their capital ratios have complied with the minimum reguirements set under this
guideline. Information on the Group's and the Bank's capital adequacy ratios,
reqgulatory minimum capital requirements and the components of capital base
are disclosed in Note 29.

Risk management

The Deutsche Bank Group has extensive risk management procedures and
policies in place. The identification, monitoring and management of all risks
within the Group are integrated into the Group-wide risk management processes
in order to optimise the risk mitigating effects of diversification. Risk
management procedures and policies are the responsibility of the Group Risk
Committee and encompass all types of risk which includes market risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk, as well as non-financial risks (including operational nisk),
and reputational risks, These risk areas are actively managed by dedicated
divisions such as the Market Risk Management Division, Credit Risk
Management Division, Liquidity Risk Control Division and Operational Risk
Management Divisian. Treasury is responsible for overall liquidity management
of the Bank including proposing liquidity risk limits in line with the tolerance/risk
appetite applied by Liguidity Risk Control Division. The Board regularly reviews
reports from the respective regional divisions and is made aware of the risk
exposure of the Bank and its ongoing management at each board meeting.
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32. Risk management (continued)

Risk managemant

The Group and the Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of
financial instruments:

- Credit risk

- Liguidity risk

- Market risk

- Operational risk

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of any transactions giving rise to actual, conlingent or
potential claims against any counterparty, obligor or borrower, where the Group
and the Bank bears the risk of loss if the counterparty, obligor or borrower

defaulls.

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the
risk

Policies for managing credit risk are determined by the Group Risk Committeg,
which also delegates credit authorities to independent Risk Officers. Divisional
credit portfolio guidelines, credit strategies for the major industries, and product
specific policies are the principal instruments to determine the Bank's risk
appefite, as well as the framework for the measurement and management of
credit risk. Approval of credit limits and management of exposure fakes place
within the framawork of portfolio guidelines and credit strategies.

Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

Principal exposures to credit risk in this regard are represented by the carrying
amounts of investment and dealing securities, and loans and advances portfolios
in the statements of financial position. The credit exposure arising from off
balance sheet activiies has been disclosed in Note 30 to the financial

statameants.

(a) Credit quality of gross loans, advances and financing

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Impaired 2634 2,882
Past due but not impaired 6,416 7,946
Maither past due nor impaired 1,898,478 1,331,121

1,807,528 1,342,049
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32. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(a) Credit gquality of gross loans, advances and financing (continued)

(i)

(i)

Impaired loans

Loans are classified as impaired when they fulfill either of the following
criteria;

{a) principal or interest or both are past due for 90 daysithree (3)
months or more;

(b} where a loan is in arrears for less than three (3) months, the loan
axhibits indications of significant credit weaknesses; or

{c) where an impaired loan has been rescheduled or restructured,
the loan continues to ba classified as impaired until repayments
based on the revised andfor restructured terms have bean

observed continuously for a perod of six (6) months.

In addition, for all loans that are considered individually significant, the
(Group assesses on & case-by-case basis at each reporting date
whether there is any objeclive evidence that a loan is impaired. The
criteria that the Group uses to determine that thers is objective
evidencs of impairment include:

{a) any significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor,

{b)} a breach of contract, such as a default or delingquency in interest
or principal payments;

() high probability of bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation of
the borrower,

(d) the viability of the customers business operations and its
capability to trade successfully out of financial difficulties and to
generate sufficient cash flow to service its debt obligations; and

(&) any adverse news or developments affecting the local economic
conditions or business environment of the borrower which will
adversely affect the repayment capacity of the borrower.

Past due but not impaired

Past due but not impaired loans are loans where the customer has
failed to make a principal or interest paymeant when contractually due,
and includes loans which are due cne or more days after the
contractual due date but less than three (3) months or 80 days.
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32. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk {continued)
(a) Credit guality of gross loans, advances and financing (continued)
(ii) Past due but not impaired (continued)

The past due but not impaired loans are analysed as follows:

Group and Bank
2016 2015
RM'0D0 RM'000
Past due but not impaired

1 day to 30 days 2,167 2,604
31 days to <60 days 1,671 2,246
60 days to <00 days 2,578 3,096
Carrying ameount 6.416 7,946

(iii) MNeither past due nor impairad

As at the reporting date, the Group and the Bank recorded loans,
advances and financing that are neither past due nor impaired of
RM1,898,478,000 (2015: RM1,331,121,000), of  which
RM1,223,569,000 (2015 RM1,009,343,000) and RME74.808,000
(2015: RM231,778,000) are loans and advances to customers and
loans and advances to banks respectively.

No loan was renegotiated during the year (2015: Nil).

(b} Fair value of collateral held against loans, advances and financing to
customers and banks

The Group and the Bank hold collateral against loans, advances and
financing to customers in the form of mortgage interests over property and
guarantees, Fair value of housing loans collaterals are assessed on yearly
basis based on independent valuation.

The fair value of property collateral held against outstanding loans,
advances and financing to customers is as per below.

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Against individually impaired 5,212 6,497
Against past due but not impaired 20,100 22,738
Against neither past due nor impaired 20,292 20,830

45,604 50,066
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32. Risk management (continued)
Credit risk {continued)
(c) Credit quality of financial instruments

Set out below is the credit quality of assets analysed by extemal rating of
the countarparties.

Financial
Financial investments
assets held-  available-
Group and Bank for-trading for-sale
RM'000 RM'000
2016
Domestic Rating
AbA+to AA- 2,085 100
A+ fo A- 633,160 -
Unrated e 1491
635,245 1,50
2015
Domestic Rating
ABAA to AA- 27,142 100
A+ 1o A- 805,372 -
P1toP3 300,000 -
Unrated - 1,49
832,514 1,50

{d) Fair value of collateral held against derivative assets

The Group and the Bank hold collateral against derivative assets o banks
and financial insfitutions counterparties in the form of cash of
RM1.101 643,160 (2015: EM1.454,616,336) as at reporting date.

Market risk

Market risk arises from the uncertainty concerning changes in market prices and
rates (including interest rates, forelgn exchange rates and equity prices,
commodity rates and other market risks), the correlations amang them and their
levals of volatility.
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32. Risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the
risk

Deutsche Bank Global Group entities, including the Group and the Bank, use a
combination of risk sensitivities, Value at Risk {"VaR") and slress testing metrics
to manage market risks and establish limits. Steered by the Group Risk
Committee, the Market Risk Management team, which is part of the Group's
independent risk management function, is responsible for managing the market
risk of the Bank. Limits, set commensurate to the risk appetite in terms of VaR,
are communicated to the appropriate personnel along with the limit structure for
each business division. The majority of the interest rate risk arising from non-
trading asset and liabllity positions is transferred through intemal hedges to
Treasury and is thus managed on the basis of Banking Book Value-at-Risk.

A summary of the VaR position of the Bank's portfolios is as follows:

At 31
December Average Maximum  Minimum
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2016

Interest Rate Risk:
Market Risk 5,739 3,982 8,419 1,827
Specific Risk 31 453 945 31
Foreign Exchange Risk 1,310 2,635 9,030 236
Commodity Risk 251 567 2,853 -
Equity Risk 1,249 343 1,787 -

Total VaR 5,980 5,102 11,197 2,246

2015

Interest Rate Risk:
Market Risk 2,718 2,596 5211 1,233
Specific Risk 958 492 1,024 196
Foreign Exchange Risk 2,237 3,305 9,415 638
Commuodity Risk - 108 441 -
Equity Risk - 15 63 -

Total VaR 3,987 4,521 10,552 1,823
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32. Risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Value-at-risk model is subject to known limitations, including:

(a)

(b}

The use of historical data may not be a geod indicator of potential future
events, particularly those that are extreme in nature. The "backward-
looking” limitation can cause value-at-risk to understate risk, but can also

cause it to be overstated.

Assumptions concerning the distribution of changes in risk factors, and the
cormrelation between the diffarent risk factors, may not hold true, particularly
during market events that are axtreme in nature. While the Group believes
the assumptions are reasonable, there is no standard value-at-risk
methodology to follow. Different assumptions will produce different results.

The one day holding period does not fully capturs the market nisk arising
during periods of illiquidity, when positions cannot be closed out or hedged

within one day.
Value-at-risk does not indicate the potential loss beyond the 95th quantile.

Intra-day risk is not caplured.

Although the Group considers the material risks to be covered by value-at-
risk model and further enhances it, there still may be risks in the trading
book that are not coverad by the value-at-risk model.
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32. Risk management (continued)
Liguidity risk

Licuuidity risk is the risk to a bank's eamings and capital arising from the inability
to timely meet obligations when they come due without incurring unacceptable
losses.

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the
risk

The objective of the Liquidity Management {"LM") function is to ensure that the
Bank can fulfill its payment chligations at all times at reasonable cost, without
affecting dally operations of the Bank. All relevant and significant drivers of
liguidity risk, on balance sheet as well as off-balance sheel, are taken into
aocount, Prices of all asset and liability types reflect their liguidity risk
characteristics and the Bank's cost of funding. Liguidity management is a
governance function which does not report to any business division and which
adhaeres to the Basal principles of sound liguidity risk management.

Liquidity risk is managed through the Asset and Liability Committee ("ALCQ").
This committee, chaired by the Treasurer, is responsible for both statutory and
prudential liquidity management of the Bank including the approval of liquidity
rizk limits which are in line with the tolerance/risk appetite applied by Liquidity
Risk Cantrol ("LRC"). Decisions prepared by the ALCO for DBMB are submitted
to the Board Risk Management Committee and Board of Directors for notification.

Liquidity risk is monitored through the Bank Negara Malaysia Liquidity Coverage
Ratio and the internal liquidity risk management policy. A prudent liquidity risk
model is based on two main liquidity risk models such as stress testing and
funding matrix. The Bank's stress testing methodology adequately reflects the
Bank’s business-specific risks and complexity embedded in its business model.
Stress testing is monitored on a daily basis, reported to the ALCO at its regular

meaefings.
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32. Risk management (continued)

Financial risk management

Liquidity risk [continued)

{a) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on remaining contractual maturity

70

The following tables present the maturity analysis for financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015:

Group and Bank
2016

Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements of
hanks and other financial

institutions
Darivative liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Upto7 =7 Days- >1-3 = 3-6 = 6-12
Days 1 Month Months Months Months
RM'000 RM'000 RM*'000 RM 000 RM'000
4 066,804 103,442 12,610 3,789 6,813
1,441,194 . . - -
281,317 230476 180,048 416,129 352,270
1,563,197 202 183 78 52
T a0l 334,120 192 841 419,995 359,135

=1 Year
RM OO0

91,682

1,358,372
23,283

1,474,337

Total
RmM 000

4,285,140

1,441,194
2 818,612
1,566,995

10,132,941
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32. Risk management (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk {continued)

{a) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on remaining contractual maturity (continued)

Upte7? =7 Days- =1-3 = 3-6 > 6-12
Days 1 Month  Months Months Months > 1 Year Total

Group and Bank RM'000 RM' 000 RM'000 RM 000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2015
Deposits from customears 4,180,146 355,583 113,324 5,865 87,593 75,036 4,817,557
Deposits and placements of

banks and other financial

institutions 761,328 8,553 1,086,770 - - - 1,856,651
Derivative liabilities 171,974 148,975 323,165 320088 370,405 1.852614 3,196,221
Other liabilities 1,478,291 2,758 3,823 502016 15,634 28,040 2,030,583
Total liabilities 6,501,730 515,880 1,527,082 836,069 473832 1,955,600 11,900,992

Tha above disclosure remains appropriate for the Bank level except that included in the deposits from customers is
RMZ20,000 (2015; RM20,000) cash consolidated from the subsidiaries with remaining contractual maturity of up to 7 days.
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32. Risk management (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Liguidity risk (continued)

(b) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis

The following tables show the contractual undiscounted cash flows payable for financial liahilities by remaining contractual
maturity. The financial liabilities in the tables below will not agree to the carrying amounts reported in the statlements of
financial position as the tables incorporate all contractual cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, relating to both principal

and interest payments.

Group and Bank
2016

Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements of
banks and other financial

institutions
Derivative liabilities
Qther liabilities
Total liabilities

Upto7
Days
RM’000

4,066,838

1,441,256
282913

1,563,197

7,354,204

> 7 Days - =1-3 = 3.6 =g-12
1 Month Months Months Months
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
103,597 12 6649 3.827 6,942
75,020 356,355 393,830 296,242
202 183 73 52
178.819 369,207 397,735 303,236

>1 Year Total
RM'000 RM'000
123,968 4,317,841
. 1,441,256
907,475 2,311,835
23,283 1,586,995
1,054,726 9,657,927
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32. Risk management (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

Liguidity risk (continued)

(b) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (continued)

73

Upto7 =7 Days- >1-3 > 3-6 > 6-12
Days 1 Month Months Months Months >1 Year Total

Group and Bank RM'ODD RM'000 RM'O0D RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'O00
2015
Deposits from customers 4,180,308 365,866 113,424 5,026 88,400 104,552 4,848.477
Deposits and placements of

banks and other financial

institutions 761,436 8.567 1.088,520 - - - 1,858,523
Derivative liabilities 159,351 296,087 313,843 414,098 538,611 1,070.892 2,792 882
Other liabilities _1.478,201 2,759 3,823 502,016 15,634 28,040 2,030,563
Total liabilities 5,579,387 663,279 1,519.610 822 040 G422 645 1 203,484 11,530,445

The above disclosure remains appropriate for the Bank level except that included in the deposits from customers is
RM20,000 (2015 RM20,000) cash consolidated from the subsidiaries with remaining contractual matunty of up to 7 days.
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32. Risk management (continued)

Operational Risk

Definition of Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequats or failed internal
processes, people and systems, or from external events. It includes legal nsk
but excludes business and reputational risk.

Organisational Structure

The Bank continues to develop and further enhanced its capabilities in
Operational Risk Management ("ORM"), in conjunction with the Threa Linas of
Defence ("3LoD") Program, This included the increased clarification of the roles
and responsibilifies of the first and second line in managing operational risk,
strengthening govemance and delivery of improved tools fto support nsk
identification and assessment. As of 2016 the responsibility for the 3LoD
program resides at Group Operational Risk Management ("Group ORM).

Group ORM has responsibility for the design, implemeantation and maintenance
of the Operational Risk Management Framework ("ORMF") including the
assoclated govemance structures. Group ORM also has the responsibility for
providing a cross-risk assessment and aggregation of risks to provide a holistic
portfolio view of the non-financial risk profile of the Bank, which includes
oversight of risk and control mitigation plans to retumn risk within risk tolerance,

where required.

The Bank takes decisions to manage operational risks, both strategically as well
as in day-to-day business. Four principles form the foundation of operational risk
management at the Bank:

Operational Risk Principle |: Risk Owners have full accountability for their
operational risks and have o manage agalnst a defined risk specific appeatite.
Risk owners are accountable for managing all operational risks in their
business/processes with an end-to-end process view, within defined operational
risk specific appetite and for identifying, establishing and maintaining first level
controls. In addition they mitigate identified and assessed risk within the risk
specific appetite through remediation actions, insurance, risk acceptance or by
ceasingreducing businass activities,

Divisional Control Officers (*DCO") support the Risk Owners. They are
responsible for embedding the framework within the relevant business division
ar infrastructure function. They assess the first level controls effectiveness,
monitor the aggregated risk profile and put the appropriate control and mitigating
actions in place within the relevant division. The DCOs also establish appropriate
governance forums o oversee the Operational Risk ("OR") profile and support
decision making.
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32. Risk management (continued)

Operational Risk (continued)
Organisational Structure [continued)

Operational Risk Principle Il Risk Type Controllers (2nd LoD control functions)
establish the risk management framework and define specific risk appetite
stalements for the Risk Type they own and perform independent controls. Risk
Type Controllers are independent 2nd LoD control functions which control
specific risk types as identified in the risk taxonomy. The Bank is working towards

full implementation of these responsibilities.

The Risk Type Controllers are responsible for establishing an effective risk
management framework for the risk type, including setting and monitoring
minimum control standards, They challenge, assess and report risks within their
risk types and set the risk specific appetite in accordance with the Group's Risk
Appetite statement. Risk Type Controllers monitor group-wide ftolerances,
perform second level controls, complementary to the first level controls, and
define the risk taxonomy for the risk type they own. Finally, they establish
indepandent non-financial risk governance, and prepare aggregated reporting
inta the Group MNon-Financial Risk Executive Committee ("NFR ExCo").

Operational Risk Principle |1l: Group ORM establishes and maintains the Group
ORMPF, defining the roles and responsibilities for the management of operational
risk across the Bank and for defining the process to idenlify, assess, mitigate,
monitor, report and escalate operational risks, Group ORM also maintains an
operational risk taxonomy and oversees the completeness of coverage of nsk
types Identified in the taxonomy by Second Line Control Functions. It also
moanitors execution and results of Deutsche Bank Group's Risk and Control
Assessment process and operational risk concentrations.

Group ORM also provides independent challenge of the Group’s operational risk
profile providing independent risk views fo facilitate forward looking management
of the risks. The function independently monitors, reviews and assesses material
risks and key controls at a divisional and infrastructure level across the Bank, It
further monitors and reports on the Group's operational risk profile in comparison
to the Bank's Group Risk Appetite, to systematically identify operational nsk
themes and concentrations, and to agree risk mitigating measures and priorities.
To adhere to reporting requirements, Group ORM establishes reporting and
escalating procedures up to the Management Board for risk assessment results
and identified materal control gaps, while informing Group Audit of matsrial
control gaps.



il

[ Company No. 312552-W |

32. Risk management (continued)

Operational Risk (continued)
Organisational Structure (continued)

Operational Risk Principle 1V: Group ORM aims to maintain sufficient capital to
underpin Operational Risk. Group ORM is accountable for the design,
implementation and maintenance of an appropriate approach o determine a
sufficient level of capital demand for Operational Risk for recommendation to the
Management Board. To fulfil this requirement, Group ORM is accountable for
the calculation and allocation of Operational Risk Capital demand and Expected
Loss planning under the Advanced Measurement Approach ("AMA”) approach.
Group ORM is also accountable for the execution of data input controls for the
Operational Risk capital calculation and for the facilitation of the annual OR
Capital budgeting and monthly review process.
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33. Financial assets and liabilities

33.1 Categories of financial instruments

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised
as follows:

fa) Loans and receivables ("L&R");

(b) Fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") - Held for trading ("HFT™);
(c) Awvailable-for-sale financial assets ("AFS"), and

(d) Financial liabiliies measured at amortised cost ("OL"),

Carrying  L&R/  FVTPL-
Group amount oL HFT AFS
2016 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets
Cash and short-term funds 4 608 452 4,608 452 = =

Deposits and placemeants
with banks and other

financial institutions 1,126 1,126 - -
Raverse repurchase

agreements 608,541 - B08,641
Financial assets held-for

trading 635,245 - (35,245 -
Financial investments

available-for-sale 1,581 - - 1,58
Loans, advances and

financing 1,890,528 1,890,528 - -
Derivative assets (Note 33.3) 2,778,605 - 2,778,605 -
Statutory deposit with

Bank Negara Malaysia 250,000 250,000 -

10,774,188 6,750,106 4,022 491 1,501

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 4,285,140 4285140 - -
Deposits and placements

of banks and other

financial institutions 1,441,184 1,441,194 - x
Derivative liabilities
(Mote 33.3) 2819612 - 2 819,612 -

8,545 948 5,728,334 2,819,612 -
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

33.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Carrying L&R/ FVTPL-
Group amount oL HFT AFS
2015 RMN'000 RM'0O00 RM'000 RM'00D

Financial assets
Cash and short-term funds 5,856,232 5,856,232 - -
Reverse repurchase

agreements 530,140 - 530,140 -
Financial assets held-for

trading 832,514 - B32.514 -
Financial investments

available-for-sale 1,581 - - 1,581
Loans, advances and

financing 1,332, 466 1,332,466 . -
Derivative assets (Note 33.3) 3,647,273 - 3,647,273 -
Statutory deposit with

Bank Megara Malaysia 20,000 20,000 - -

12,220,216 7,208,698 5009927 1,591

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers 4 817.557 4,817,557 - -
Deposits and placements

of banks and other

financial institutions 1,856,651 1,866,651 - -
Derivative liabilities

(Mote 33.3) 3,196,221 - 3186221

89,870,420 6,674,208 3,196,221 -

The above disclosure is also applicable for the Bank level except that
inciuded in the deposits from customers is RM20,000 (2015 RM20,000)

cash consolidated from the subsidiaries
33.2 Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy

MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement requires each class of assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in the statements of financial position after
inttial recognition to be categorised according to hierarchy that reflects the
significance of inputs used in making the measurements, in paricular,
whether the inputs used are observable or unobservable as discussed in
MNote 2{c}vi).
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
33.2 Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy (continued)
33.2.1 Financial instruments carried at fair value
The following table shows the Group's and the Bank's financial

instruments which are measured at fair value at the reporting date
analysed by the various level within the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RM 000 RM'000 RM'000
2016
Financial assets
FReverse repurchass
agreements - 608,641 -
Financial assets held-
for-trading - 635,245 -
Derivative assets - 2,705,344 73,261

- 3,948,230 73,261

Financial liabilities
Darnvative iabilities - (2,806,430) (13,182)

2015
Financial assets
Feverse repurchase

agreements - 530,140 -

Financial assets held-
for-trading - 832,514 -
Derivative assefs - 3.642 127 5,146
- 5,004,781 5,146

Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities - {3,191,850) (4,371)
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

33.2 Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy {(continued)
33.21 Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued)

The following shaws a reconciliation from the beginning balances
to the ending balances for fair value measurements in Level 3 of
the fair value higrarchy:

2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Financial assets

Balance at 1 January 5,146 5715
Total gain recognised in profit

ar loss,

-Seitlements (138) (5.715)

=Aftributable to gains recognisad
relating to financial assets that

have not been realised 68,254 5,148
Balance at 31 December 73261 5146
Financial liabilities
Balance al 1 January (4,371) (10,754)
Total gain recognised in profit

or loss:
-Settlements 1,169 5,434

Affributable to losses recoghised
relaling to financial liabilities
fthat have nof been realised (9,980) {51)

Balance at 31 December (13,182) {4,371)

The unrealised gainsf{losses) have been recognised net within
non-interest income in profit or loss as shown in Note 20.
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
33.2 Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy (continued)
33.2.2 Financial instruments not carried at fair value

In respect of cash and short term funds, other assets (excluding
derivatives), statutory deposit with Bank Megara Malaysia,
deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions,
and other liabilities (excluding derivatives), the carrying amounts
in the statements of financial position approximate their fair values
due to the relatively short tlerm/on demand nature of these financial
instrumeants.

The fair values of other financial assets/iabilities, together with the
carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial position, are

as follows:

Carrying Fair

value value

Group RM'000 RM 000
2016
Financial assets
Loans, advances and financing 1,880,528 1,890,125
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 4,285,140 4,311,003
2015
Financial assels
Loans, advances and financing 1,332,466 1,336,874

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers 4,817,557 4838377
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

33.2 Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy (continued)

33.2.2 Financial instruments not carried at fair value (continued)

The disclosure is also applicable for the Bank level except that
includad in the deposits from customers is RM20,000 {2015
RM20,000) cash consolidated from the subsidiaries.

fa)

(B)

Loans, advances and financing

The fair values of fixed rate loans with remaining maturity of
less than one year and variable rate loans are estimated to
approximate their camying values. For fixed rale loans with
maturities of more than one year, the fair values are gstimated
based on expected future cash flows of contractual instalment
payments and discounted at prevailing rates at reporting date
offered for similar loans. In respect of impaired loans, the fair
values are deemed to approximate the carmying values, net of
individual assessment allowance for impaired debts and
finanecing.

Deposits from cusfomers

The fair values for deposit liabilities payable on demand
(demand and savings deposits) or with remaining maturities
of less than one year are estimated to approximate their
carrying values at reporting date. The fair values of fized
deposits with remaining maturities of more than one year are
estimated based on discounted cash flows using rales
currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.

The fair value of loans, advances and financing and deposit from
customers shown above are classified under Level 3 within the fair
value hierarchy disclosure in accordance to MFRS 7.
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

33.3 Derivative financial instruments

The following table shows the notional and market values of the derivalives
financial instrument as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015:

Group and Bank
Positive Negative
market market
Notional value value
RM 000 RM'000 RM000
2016
Foreign exchange related
contracts
Forward exchange trades 31,365,121 769,083 {568,258)
Cross currency swaps 13,467,123 1,781,978 (1,933,430)
Foreign exchange opfions 129,084 4,689 {2,028)
Interest/Profit rate related
contracts
Swaption 877,964 31,822 -
Interest rate swap 62,143,122 187,436 (312,870)
Credit derivatives contracts 1,155 687 3,587 (3,026)
109,138 102 2 778 605 {2,819,612)
2015
Foreign exchange related
coniracts
Forward exchange trades 28,540,880 1,295,128 {651,506)
Cross currency swaps 17,447 943 2112153 {2,301,088)
Foreign exchange options 360,838 6,745 (2,739)
Interest/Profit rate related
contracts
Swapftion 852,276 21.408 (600)
Interest rate swap 67,251,696 196,630 (234,054)
Equity related contracts 40,760 - {449)
Credit derivatives contracts 2087 257 15,200 (5,785)
116,581,450 3,647,273 (3,196,221)
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
33.4 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements

are as follows:
Amount not affset in the
statements of financial position
Gross amount Gross amount  Amount
recognised in | offset in the presented in
the statements statements the statements Values of the Cash collateral

Group and Bank of financial of financial  of finansial financial received/ Met
Z016 position position position instruments® pledged amount
RN 000 RM'00D RM’0DD RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets
Dharrvalive financial asssts

- Fareign exchange related contracts 2,555 750 - 2,955,750 (925,036} {1,%65,295) 465,418
- Interest/Profit rate related contracts 219,258 - 219,258 {113,346) [75,494) 28418
- Credif derivative confracts 3.507 - 34587 (2430} {1,177) -
o SRTTEDOR % .. 2 d18805 (1040802} (1,242,9668) 494837

Reverse repurchase agreements oo O Yo i e S e o ORI s i (5,319)
3,387 245 - 3,387 246 (1,854, TE2) {1,242,965) 450 518

Financial llabilities
Dierivalive financial llabilities

- Forelgn exchange related contracts 2,503,716 - 2,503,716 {925,036} (914,321) BG64,350
- Imterast!Praft rate related contracts 312,870 - 312,870 {113,348} (117,844) 61,680
- Credit derivativa contracts 3.026 - 3.026 {2,420} {409] 197

ZB819.612 B 28186512 (1,040,502} {1,032,574) 746,238

> Include securnties accepted as callatasal
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

33.4 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netling arrangements and similar agreements
are as follows: (continued)

Amount not offset in the
statements of financial position
Grogss amount Gross amount Amount

recognised in  offset in the presented in
the statements statements the statements Values of the Cash collateral

Group and Bank of financial of financial  of financial financial rece|ved! Met

2015 position position pasition instruments” pledged amount
4 R RE'000 R Qo RN R0 RM" 000 RM'O00

Financlal assets

Drarivativa financial assals

- Forzign exchange related contracts 3414 026 . 3414026 (1,467 960} {1,480,423) 465,643

- Interast'Profit rate reliated confracts 218,038 - 218,038 {125 0446) (70, 415) 13577

- Credlt derpative confracis 15,2048 - 15,209 14,032} (10,618) 559

.. spargrs s 3,647,273 (1,597,038} [1.570.458) 479779

Raverse repurchase agreemenis RN 1 L RN P L. LR (... ..o e, .. {10,705)
4,177,413 4177413 (2,137 583) {1,570,456) 469,074

Financlal liabilities

Darivative financial liabiities

- Forelgn exchange related contracts 2.955,333 - 2 955,313 {940,783} {1,246,624) 767,916

- Interest'Profit rate related contracts 234,664 " 234,654 (125, 0d46) (401,618) 7,090

- Equity relaled conlracls A449 - 444 - 1449) -

= Ceedil derivative contracts 6786 5,785 {4,032] (221) 1.532
3,188 221 - 3.1868,221 (1,068 871) {1,348 01 E_:I_ TI7, 4358

Include securities accepted as collataral
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33. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
33.4 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reparted in the statements of financial position when there Is a lzgally
enfarceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the [ability
simultaneously.

Derivatives and reverse repurchase agreements included in the amount not
set-off in the statements of financial position relate to fransactions where:;

(i) the counterparty has an offsetting exposure with the Group and the
Bank and a master natting or similar arrangements is in place with a
right to set-off only in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.
and

(i} cash and securities are received or cash pledged in respect of the
transaction described above.

34. Equity compensation benefits

The Bank participates in the following share and options compensation plans
operated by Deutsche Bank AG ("DB").

Share Plans

All awards represent a contingent right to receive DB commeon shares after a
specified period of time. The award recipient is not enlitled to receive dividends
before the settlement of the award,

Deutsche Bank Share Scheme

Under the Deutsche Bank Share Scheme, selected employees are granted
defarrad share rights to receive DB shares at a specific fulure date. These may
be granted as part of annual bonuses or as exceptional awards in the case of
sign-ons, buy-outs or as retention incentives. The compensation expense Is
recognised on a straight line basis over the vesting period, which is generally
three years for the annual awards.
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34. Equity compensation benefits (continued)

DB Global Share Purchase Plan

The DE Group offers a broad-based employee share ownership plan entitled
Global Share Purchase Plan ("GSPP"). The GSPP offers all active employees
at participating Deutsche Bank entities the opportunity to purchase Deutsche
Bank shares in monthly instalments over one year. At tha end of the purchase
cycle, the Bank matches the acquired stock in a ratio of one to one up fo a
maximum of ten free shares. provided that the employee remains at Deutsche
Bank Group for another year. In total, about 15,250 staff from 21 countries
enrclled in the eight cycles that began in November 2016.

DB Equity Plan

The DB Group made grants of share-based compensation under the DB Equity
Plan. This plan represents a contingent right to receive Deutsche Bank common
shares after a specified period of fime. The award recipient is nof entitled o
receive dividends during the vesting period of the award.

The share awards granted under the terms and conditions of DB Equity Plan
may bea forfeited fully or partly if the recipient voluntarily terminates employment
before the end of the relevant vesting period. Vesting usually continues after
termination of employment in cases such as redundancy or retirement.

In countries where legal or other restrictions hinder the delivery of shares, a cash
plan variant of the DB Equity Plan was used for granting awards.

During the year, RM1,329,251 (2015: RM3,526,817) of expense was recognised
in the profit or loss.
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34. Equity compensation benefits (continued)

Movements in the number of deferred share rights held by employees are as

follows:
2016 2015
Number of  Number of
deferred deferred
Group and Bank share rights share rights
Outstanding at 1 January 38,212 41,330
Granted during the year 31,234 29 485
Vested to employees during the year (20,538) (32,604)
Forfeited/Lapsed during the year {2,193) -
Outstanding at 31 December 46,715 28,212
2016 2015
€'000 €000
Grant value of share awards outstanding
at 31 December D42 1.212
Grant value of share awards issued to the
Scheme in the year 486 780

Grant value of share awards vested to
Employees in the year G680 1,015
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35. The operations of Islamic Banking

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016

Assels

Cash and short term funds
Financial assets held-for-trading
Other assets

Total assets
Liabilities and Islamic Banking funds

Deposits from customars

Deposits and placements of banks and
other financial institutions

Qther liahilities

Taxation

Total liabilities

Capital funds
Retained profits

|slamic Banking funds
Total liabilities and Islamic Banking funds

Commitments and contingencies

Mote

(&)
(b

(e)

(d}
(&)

89

2016 2015
RM 000 RM'000
67,160 67 823
- 50,275

10 1,251
67.170 110,449
32,764 77,464
- 254
1,327 9,191
1,851 1,822
96042 88,731
25,000 25,000
6,128 5718
a2e 30718
67,170 118,449

The notes on pages 92 to 94 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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35. The operations of Islamic Banking (continued)

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
RM'000 RM00D

Income derved from investment of Islamic funds 619 1,523
Total net income 618 1,523
Other operating expenses {80) {242)
Profit before tax 539 1,281
Taxation (129) (320}
Net profit and total comprehensive income for

the year 410 . 961

Statement of changes in Islamic Banking funds for the year ended 31
December 2016

Capital Retained
funds profits Total
RM'000 RM'00D RM'000

At 1 January 2015 25,000 4,757 28,757
Net profititotal comprehensive income

for the year - 961 061
At 31 December 2015/1 January 2016  25.000 5,718 30,718
Met profitftotal comprehensive income

for the year - 410 410
At 31 December 2016 25,000 6,128 31,128

The Bank transferred RM25,000,000 paid-up capital funds to the Islamic
Banking window on 20 April 2009.

The notes on pages 92 to 94 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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35. The operations of Islamic Banking (continued)

Statement of cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

;m

2016 2015
RM'00D RM'D00

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 539 1,281
Operating profit before working capital changes 538 1,281

Decrease in operaling assets 51,516 231

Decrease in operating liabilities {52,818) (7,788)
Cash used in operations (763) (6,277)
Net cash used in operations . (T83) (8,277)
Net decrease in cash and cash

equivalents (T63) (6,277)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 67,923 74200
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

(Mote 35(a)) 67,160 67,923

The notes on pages 92 to 94 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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35. The operations of Islamic Banking (continued)

BMM had given its approval on 22 August 2007 for the Bank to conduct Islamic
Banking business under Section 124 of the Banking and Financial Institutions
Act, 1988 (Now repealed and replaced by Financial Services Act, 2013).

Shariah Committee

The Shariah Commitiee was established under BNM's "Guidelines on the
Governance of Shariah Committee for the Islamic Financial Institutions”
(BNM/GPS1) to advise the Board of Directors on Shariah matiers in its Islamic
business operalions and to provide technical assistance in ensuring the Islamic
Banking products and services offered by the Bank and the relevant
documentation are in compliance with Shariah principles.

During the financial year ended 31 December 20186, a total of 4 meetings were
held, The Sharah Committee comprises the following members and the details
of attendance of each member was as follows:

Members Number of Shariah
Meetings Attended

Dr Sheikh Hussain Hamed Sayed Hassan 4/4

D Muhammad Claseem 4/4

En. Mohd Hilmi bin Ramili 474

Basis of measurement

The financial statements of the Islamic Banking business have been prepared
on the basis consistent with that of the Group and of the Bank as disclosed in
Motes 1 and 2 to the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank and have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, excapt as mentioned in the respeactive
accounting palicy notes.

(a) Cash and short-term funds
2016 2015

RM'000 RM'00D

Cash and balances with banks and other
financial institutions 67,160 67,923
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35. The operations of Islamic Banking (continued)

(b)

(d)

(e)

()

Financial assets held-for-trading

93

2016 2015
RM'00D RM"000
Malaysian Investment Issue = 50,275
Deposits from customers
2016 2015
RM 000 RM'000
Non-Mudharabah
Demand deposits 32,764 27.464
Other deposils - 50,000
32,764 77,464

Deposits and placements of banks and other financial

institutions

2016 2015
RM 000 RM'000
Licensed banks - - 254
Other liabilities
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000
Bills payable 121 a1
Other liabilities 1,206 9.110
1,327 9,13

Capital adequacy

The capital adequacy ratios of the |slamic Banking business of the Group
are computed in accordance with the Capital Adequacy Framework for
Islamic Banks (CAFIB). The Group's Islamic Banking business has adopted
the Standardized Approach for Credit Risk and Market Risk, and the Basic

Indicator Approach for Operational Risk.
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35. The operations of Islamic Banking (continued)

(f) Capital adequacy (continued)

Components of Tier | and Tier || capital:
2016 2015
RM'000 RM'000

Tier 1 capital

Capital funds 25,000 25,000

Retained profits 6,128 5718
Total commaon equity ter 1/ Total fier 1 capital 31.128 30,718
Total Tier 2 capital - -
Capital base 31,128 30,718
Common equity tier 1/Tier 1 capital ratio 791.910%  T707.543%
Total capital ratio 791.910%  707.543%

The breakdown of risk-weighted assets ("RWA") by exposures in each
maijor risk category is as follows:

Risk Weighted ‘
RISK TYPE Assets
2016 | 2015
RM'000 = RM'000 |
1 |Credit risk 689 | 1,104 |
2 [Market risk 1,376 206
3 |[Dperational risk B 1,866 | 3,033 |

Total | 3831 | 4343 |




